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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF UTAH

JEFF N., AND M.N, MEMORANDUM DECISION AND
ORDER:

Plaintiffs, e DENYING IN PART AND
GRANTING IN PART [10]

V. DEFENDANT’S MOTION TO
DISMISS; AND

UNITED HEALTHCARE INSURANCE e GRANTING PLAINTIFFS
COMPANY, LEAVE TO AMEND

Defendant. Case N02:18<v-00710DN-CMR
District JudgeDavid Nuffer

Magistrate Judge Cecilia M. Romero

This case involves claims under the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974

(“ERISA”) and the Mental Health Parity and Addiction EquitgtA‘Parity Act”) arising from

the denial of coverage for Plaint¥f.N.’s treatment aElevationsResidential Treatment Center
(“Elevations”), Open Sky Wilderness TherayPpen Sky), and Solacium Sunrise Residential
Treatment Center (“Sunrise®)DefendanUnited HealthCarénsurance Company (“United”)
served as an insurer and claims administrator for the insurance plan providmigf$lai

coverage (“the Plan”) during the relevant time at iSsueitedfiled a Motion to Dismiss

seeking to dismiss Plaintiffs’ complaint in its entiréigpecifically, DefendararguePlaintiff

Jeff N.’s individual claims should be dismissed because he lacks statutory and constitutional

! Plaintiffs’ Complaint (“Complaint”)docket no. 2filed Sept. 7, 2018.
21d. at 1.
3 Defendant’s Motion to Dismiss Plaintiffs’ Complaint (“Motion Basmiss”),docket no. 10filed Jan 10, 2019.
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standing® Defendantalso argus Plaintiffs fail to plead sufficient fact® state a clainfor
violation ofthe Parity Acf® Plaintiffs responde@nd requested leave file an amended
complaintif theMotion to Dismisds grantec® Defendanteplied’

BecauseéPlaintiffs allegeleff N.is a participanbf the Plan and entitled to
reimbursement foout-of-pocketexpensesinder the terms of the Plan resulting from
Defendant’sdenial of coveragéor M.N.’s treatmentthey have sufficiently allegeteff N.s
statutory and constitutional standing. Howevegcduse thallegations relating to Plaintiffs’
Parity Act claimare conclusory and mere recitations of the laeking factual support, they fail
to state a claim on which relief may be granted. Therefore, Defemdiémtion to Dismis$ is
DENIED in part and GRANTED in pantiowever,Plaintiffs are given leave to file aamended
complaintcorrectingthe deficiencies in their Parity Act claim.

FACTUAL BACKGROUND

Jeff N.is the parent df1.N.° Jeff N.wasa participantn the PlarandM.N. was a
beneficiary of the Platat all relevant times™® The Han provides group health benefits
coverage fodeff N.andM.N., andis afully insuredemployee welfare benefits plan under

ERISA!!

41d. at 1618.
51d. at 1616.

6 Plaintiffs’ Memorandum in Opposition to Defendant’s Motion to Dismiss Plam@bmplaint (“Response”),
docket no. 12filed Feb. 7, 2019.

" Defendant’s Reply in Further Support of its Motion to Dismiss Plaintiffs’ Camp{“Reply”), docket no. 15
filed March 7, 2019.

8 Docket no. 10filed Jan. 10, 2019.
9 Complaint 1 1.

01d. 7 3.

d.
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M.N. suffers from various mentakhlth conditions and has a historyseft-harm,
suicide ideation, and suicide attempt$4.N. enterecElevations orSeptember 32015, and
stayed until June 29, 2017, when Jeff N. arranged her transport from Elevations to Open Sky.
After her stay at Open Sky, M. was admitted to Sunrise on August 17 *2BIExations, Open
Sky, and Sunseare alllicensedand accredited facilities in the State of Utah that provide
treatment for adolescents with mental healtBubstancabuse condition¥>

Unitedinitially coveredM.N.’s treatment at Elevationbut denied coverageom
September 25, 2015 forward, giving the explanationNhit’s symptoms hatbecome less
severe!® Unitedstated that écauséM.N. had no severe problems with daily function, she no
longer met the guidelines for residential treatment and dmutdeated i partial hospital
program®’ For a period of time during M.N.’s treatment at Elevations, the Plan was insured by a
different company® When United again became the insurer for the Plan, United authorized
payment for M.N.’s treatment from January 1, 2017 to February 7, 2017, and denied coverage
thereaftert®

When M.N. was admitted to Open Sky, United denied payfianiN.’s admittance to

Sunrise on August 17, 2017 occurred with United’s approvBut United denied coverage from

121d. 11 1220.
B1d. 1122, 43.
141d. 1 50.
151d. 1 4.

181d. 7 25.
71d.

181d. 1 32.
191d. 133.

201d. 143

211d. §50.



September 5, 2017 forwch? The cumulativedenial ofbenefits at the three facilitissulted in
Jeff N. paying out-of-pocket expenses in excess of $340,00d fdr's treatment®

Jeff N.appealed eactienial of coveragm several stagesindmaintains that
encountered difficulty in the processing of some of his appéaksf N. received no response to
his Sunrise appea?.Plaintiffs theninitiated this case based on Defendmanbntinued denial of
coverage foM.N.’s treatment aElevaions, Open Sky, and Sunri§&Plaintiffs’ Complaint
alleges two causes of action: ¢1aim for benefits pursuant to ERISA und& U.S.C. §
1132(a)(1)(B)*" and (2)claim for violation of tre Parity Act unde?9 U.S.C. § 1132(a)(3F

DISCUSSION

Defendanseels dismissal 6 Jeff N!s individual claims andPlaintiffs’ Parity Act claim
under Rule 12(b)(6) of theederal Rules of Civil ProceduféDismissal is appropriatender
Rule 12(b)(6)whenthe complaint, standing alone, is legally insufficienstate a clainon
which relief may be grantetf.Each cause of actiomust be supported by enough sufficient,
well-pleaded fact$o be plausible on its facg.In reviewing a complaindn aRule 12(b)(6)

motion to dismissfactual allegations are accepted as true and reasonable infexendeawrin

22|d. 151

23|d. 1 65.

241d. 1126, 3435, 40, 42, 44, 449.

251d. 161

%1d. 5

271d. 11 66609.

281d. 71170-75.

29 Motion to Dismiss at 2.

30Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(6seeSutton v. Utah State Sch. for the Deaf & Blih@d3 F.3d 1226, 1236 (10th Cir. 1999)
31 Bell Atl. Corp. v. Twomb|y550 U.S. 544, 570 (20Q7)
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alight most favorable to thelaintiff.>> However, “assertions devoid of factual allegations” that
are nothing more than “conclusorgf “formulaic recitation of the lawaredisregarded®

Plaintiffs sufficiently allege Jeff N.’s statutory and constitutional standing

DefendantrguesthatJeff N.lacks statutory and constitutional standing to bring his
individual claims3* Defendanfirst argueghatJeff N.lacks standing under ERISA because
treatment benefits were deniedly to M.N.3> ERISA providesthat a plart participant or
beneficiary may bring suit “to recover benefits due to him under the terms of his plan, to
enforce his rights under the terms of the plan, or to clarify his rights to future bemnel#sthe
terms of the plan3

Plaintiffs allege thafleff N.is a participant of the Plaii Plaintiffs furtherallege Jeff N.
paid in excess of $340,000 in outypdeket expenses as a resulDeffendant’s deail of
coverage foM.N.’s treatment aElevations, Open Sky, and Sunrise, and that he is due
reimbursementinder the terms of the Pl&hAcceptingPlaintiffs’ allegations as try¢heyhave
sufficiently allegedJeff N’s standing under ERISZ

Defendannextargues thatJeff N.lacks constitutional standirgecause heannot show

an injuryin-fact stemming from the alleged improper denial of benefitd.1.%° To establish

32 GFF Corp. v. Associated Wholesale Grocers,,|t80 F.3d 1381, 1384 (10th Cir. 1997)
33 Ashcroft v. Ighal556 U.S. 662, 678, 681 (2009)

34 Motion to Dismiss at 14.8.

%1d. at 16.

329 U.S.C. § 1132(a)(1)(B)

37 Motion to Dismiss at 4.

38 Complaint 1 65, 76.

3 Wills v. Regence Béacross Blueshield of UtalNo. 2:07cv-00616BSJ, 2008 WL 4693581, *7 (D. Utah Oct. 23,
2008) Lisa O. v. Blue Cross of Idaho Health Serv., IiNn. 1:12cv-00285EJL-LMB, 2014 WL 585710, *23 (D.
Idaho Feb. 14, 2014)

40 Motion to Dismiss at 18.
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Article Il standing, a plaintiff musallege(1) an injury in fact that is (2) causally connected to
the conduct complained ¢8) that is likely to be redressed by the requested rélief.

Plaintiffs allegeJeff N.paid in excess of30,000 for medical expenses incurred by
M.N.’s treatmentwhich expenseshouldhavebeencovered and are due deff N.under the
terms of thePlan*? These allegations are sufficient to shaeif N.sufferedan injuryin-fact
(out-ofpocket expenseshat is causally connected Deefendant’sconduct (improper denial of
coveragepndredressablé he prevails on hislaims*3 Therefore Plaintiffs havesufficiently
alleged Jeff Ns constitutional standing. Defendanktion to Dismis&*is DENIED as to the
issue ofleff N!s standing.

Plaintiffs fail to allegesufficient facts tostate a claim under the Parity Act

Defendantargues that Plaintiffs fail toallegesufficient facts to state a claim under the
Parity Act*® “Congress enacted tiiearity Act]to end discrimination in the provision of
insurance coverage for mental health and substance use disorders as compareajg® foove
medical and surgical conditions in employer-sponsored group health s Parity Act
requires planso ensure “treatment limitations applicable to mental healthulostance use
disorder benefits are no more restrictive than the predominant treatment lmsiggbiolied to

substantially all medical and surgical benefits covered by the pfan.”

41 Lujan v. Defs. of Wildlife504 U.S. 555, 5661 (1992)

42 Complaint 1 65, 76.

43 Wills, 2008 WL 4693581*8-9; Lisa O, 2014 WL 585710*3-4.

44 Docket no. 10filed Jan. 10, 2019.

451d. at 1016.

46 Am. Psychiatric Ass’n v. Anthem Health Plans,,|821 F.3d 352, 356 (2d Cir. 2016)
4729 U.S.C. § 1185a(3)(A)(ii)
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As recently recognizeldy another judge of this coufthere is no clear law on what is
required to state a claim for a Parity Act violatidA Defendant emphasizes that the Plan does
not establish terms that differentiate coverage between medical/surgical and mental
health/substance use claififddowever, déparatareatment limitations that violatee Parity
Act can be eithefacial (as written in the language or the processes of thé ptas-applied(in
operation via application of the plat?).

A claim for a faciaParity Act violationtargets “the language of the plan or the processes
of the plan that implementing guidelines require to be applied in a nondiscriminatory nwtnner.”
To sufficiently pleada facial claim the plaintiff “must correctly identifythe plan’sexpres$
limitation and compare tb a relevant analogué?

Foran asappliedParity Actviolation claim, the pgaintiff mustallege that the plan is
discriminatory in applicatioR® “To state a plausible claim under [anaplied] theory, a
plaintiff may allege that a defendant differentially applies a facially neutraltpten.®* “[A] t
the very least, a plaintiff must identify the treatments in the mefdidadurgical arena that are

analogous to the sougafter mental healtfor] substance abuse benefit allgége that there is a

disparity in their limitation criteria.®®

48 Michael D. v. Anthem Health Plans of Ky., Indo. 2:17cv-00675JNP, 369 F. Supp. 3d 1159, 1174 (D. Utah
2019)

49 Motion to Dismiss at 1:43.

50 Anne M. v. United Behavioral Health, No. 2:¢800808TS, 2019 WL 1989644, *2 (D. Utah May 6, 20E&e
alsoH.H. v. Aetna Ins. CoNo. 1880773CIV-MIDDLEBROOKS, 342 F. Supp. 3d 1311, 1319 (S.D. Fla. 2018)
A.Z. v. Regence Blueshigo. C171292TSZ, 333 F. Supp. 3d 1069, 1081 (W.D. Wash. 2018)

51 Michael D.,369 F. Supp. 3d at 1175
52A.7.,333 F. Supp. 3d at 1079

53 Anne M.,2019 WL 1989644, *2
541d.

SSWelp v. Cigna Health & [f¢ Ins. Co.No. 1780237%CIV-MIDDLEBROOKS, 2017 WL 3263138, *6 (S.D. Fla.
July 20, 2017)
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Plaintiffs claim thatDefendanviolatedthe Parity Act when it limited coverage of M.N.’s
time spent at Elevations, Open Sky, and Sunfi§daintiffs allegeM.N.’s treatment at the three
wilderness program facilittavas medically necessaryand that Wited should have used sub-
acute treatment guidelines to evalusitd\.’s residential treatmert They furtherallege the
Plan offers comparable medical or surgical benefild.td.’s treatment aElevations, Open Sky,
and Sunrise, including sudeute inpatient treatment settsgg skilled nursing facilities, inpatient
hospice care, and rehabilitation facilitRlainiff salso generally allegenited does not
exclude coverage for medically necessary care ofeakdr surgical conditions in the maniiter
excluded coveragi®r M.N.’s treatmentt Elevations, Open Sky, and Sunrf8elaintiffs also
allege thatUnited usel acute care requiremerttsdenycoverage of the suacute treatment
provided at Elevations, Open Sky, and Sunfise.

However, thee allegationfail to sufficientlystate a claim under the Parity Afzcial or
asapplied®? Instead of particularized allegatiof®aintiffs’ Parity Act claim contains
conclusory and formulaic recitations of the le@eking factual supporlaintiffs fail to identify
anyexpresgimitation in the Plan’danguageor procesesthat could constitute a facial Parity Act
violation. For an asapplied Parity Act violation, Plaintiffalso fail to allege with specificitfacts
showing a disparityn Defendants application oflimitation criteria Plaintiffs quote statutory

language identifying types of limitation criteria, but they doailletgehowa disparity arises

56 Complaint 19 7477.
571d. 1 37, 45.

581d. 154.

591d. 1160, 74.

601d. 9 74.

611d. 1 41, 45.

52 Anne M, 2019 WL 1989644*3; Kelly W. v. Anthem Blue Cross and Blue Shisld2:19¢cv-00067DB, 2019
WL 2393802, *35 (D. Utah June 6, 2019)
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betweercriteria Defendantised to deny coverage for M.Ntieatmentndcriteria for
analogous medical or surgical treatment

Under Federal Rulef Civil Procedure 8, defendants must have “fair notice” with regard
to the claim and its ground3In addition “factual allegations must be enougiraise a right to
relief abovethe speculative levelP* The conclusory allegation that limitation critefor
medically necessary care of medlior surgical conditions are not applied “in the mantieat
Defendanexcluded coverage fdi.N.’s treatment does not suffidelaintiffs have listed
elements of the Parit#ct buthave failed to make cletw Defendant which particular aspect
they allege Defendant to have violated, and bgtwhecific actionsPlaintiffs have also alleged
a faulty limitation with respect to stdcute mental health treatment facilities. But Plaintiffs have
failed to show hw that allegedly faulty limitation is disparate from limitations in comparable
medical and surgical treatment facilities. In failingrtake acompaison betweeltimitation
criteria formental health treatmeandlimitation criteria formedical/surgical treatment,
Plaintiffs’ Complaint castsob broad a nefTherefore, Plaintiff$ail to allege sufficienspecific
facts to state a claim under the Parity.Adte proposed amended complaftyhich Plaintiffs
attacted to their Responsédpes not correct these deficiencies

Defendant’sMotion to Dismis§®is GRANTED as to Plaintiffs’ Parity Act clainButthe
claim will be dismissed without prejudieePlaintiffs ae given leave to file an amended

complaintaddressing the deficiencies in thearity Actviolation claim.

63 Bell Atl. Corp. v. Twomb}y550 U.S. 544,55 (2007)
641d.

55 Response, Ex. Adocket no. 12filed Feb. 7, 2019.
56 Docket no. 10filed Jan. 10, 2019.
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ORDER

IT IS HEREBY ORDERED thabefendant’sMotion to Dismis§’ is DENIEDin partas
to standing an6RANTED in partas to Plaintiffs’ Parity Act claimiThat claim is DISMISSED
without prejudice, buPlaintiffs are given leave to file a second amended complaint to correct the
deficiencies in their Parity Act claim. Plaintiffs must files second amended complamd later
than October 31, 2019.
Signed September 27, 20109.
BY THE COURT

Dol Mdf

David Nuffer
United States District Judge

57 Defendant’s Motion t®ismiss Plaintiffs’ Complaintjocket no. 10filed Jan 10, 2019.

10


https://ecf.utd.uscourts.gov/doc1/18314522841

	Factual Background
	Discussion
	Plaintiffs sufficiently allege Jeff N.’s statutory and constitutional standing
	Plaintiffs fail to allege sufficient facts to state a claim under the Parity Act

	Order

